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H-22-298 Referral Details

Hotline ID:
H-22-298

What state or local organization is involved?

Jefferson County

Please identify the specific concerns you are hoping the audit will address.

Citizen has concerns of conflict of interest, contracting and public spending by the commissioner

Please provide a detailed description of the assertion or outstanding achievement,

including who, when, where, what, how and how much.

How did this issue come to your attention?

What employee(s), contractors, etc., were involved in the assertion or achievement?
Please include employee titles if possible.

Please provide the names of any witnesses to the assertion or achievement, if possible.

Please provide any additional details or comments that would help us understand your
assertion or achievement.
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Log Entry

Referral updated by 'JEANA Gillis (gillisj)'.

Referral updated by 'JEANA Gillis (gillisj)'.

Referral updated by 'AMY Strzalka (strzalkaa)'.

Emailed hotline letter to citizen. Letter and email attached in supporting documents. --strzalkaa

Emailed citizen to let her know Al had reviewed her concerns and would be happy to discuss via phone. --strzalkaa

Citizen reached to inquire as to status of concern. Let her know we'd be considering during AC audit of the county
later this year. Correspondence attached in supporting docs. --strzalkaa

Referral updated by 'TINA Watkins (watkinst)'.

Spoke with Citizen today to share that we received the addendum. I indicated that I appreciated the research and
that we would consider the concern and likely include it in our next regularly scheduled audit in 2023. While she
would prefer that we look at it now she appeared to understand our process. She also indicated that she had
procurement concerns and would forward them to my email. If received. I will attach in this hotline for consideration.
--watkinst

Referral updated by 'JEANA Gillis (gillisj)".

Received mailed addendum to complaint on 9/30/22. (Identical addendum was received 9/28 via email). Added mail
version to supporting docs as well. --strzalkaa

Received addendum to complaint -added in supporting docs. --strzalkaa

Received phone call from citizen. She received email and was concerned because we aren't going to be looking at
this until next accountability audit, which is summer 2023. I explained the way our audit schedule works and that we
don't change that based on citizen concerns except in extreme circumstances (like fraud). She was not happy with
that answer, but it is what it is. I also gave her some suggestions about what she can do in the meantime (attend
board meetings and express her concerns, etc.). --strzalkaa

Referral updated by 'AMY Strzalka (strzalkaa)'.

Emailed citizen to let her know we'd consider her concerns during the next audit. (Attached in supporting
documents). --strzalkaa

Referral updated by 'JEANA Gillis (gillisj)'.
Task assigned to 'strzalkaa@sao.wa.gov'. Team notification email sent to: strzalkaa@sao.wa.gov

Referral updated by 'JEANA Gillis (gillisj)'. Action changed from (not set) to Referred to Audit Team - Consider Next
Audit.



From: Strzalka, Amy (SAQ)

To: Rosemary Schurman; Watkins, Tina (SAO)

Cc: McCarthy, Pat (SAQ)

Subject: RE: PREVIOUS Ethics Complaint re: Greg Brotherton, Jefferson Co
Date: Friday, August 18, 2023 11:34:00 AM

Attachments: image001.png

Hi Ms. Shurman,

I am the Audit Manager for the team responsible for Jefferson County’s audit, so can best respond to
this inquiry. We are currently conducting the financial and federal audits for the County, and will be
starting to plan the accountability audit for the County later this month.

Your concern will be considered and addressed as part of the accountability audit. At the conclusion
of the audit, we will send you a letter communicating the results of our review. | anticipate that work
will be completed and the results shared with you by end of October or early November of this year.

Best,

Amy Strzalka, CPA
Team Port Orchard Audit Manager, Fire Protection District Program Manager

(] Office of the Washington State Auditor
==
(360) 845-1476 | Pronouns: she/her/hers

We are hiring! Go to sao.wa.gov/jobs to see our openings.

From: Rosemary Schurman <rbschurman@aol.com>

Sent: Friday, August 18, 2023 11:28 AM

To: Watkins, Tina (SAO) <watkinst@sao.wa.gov>

Cc: Strzalka, Amy (SAQ) <strzalkaa@sao.wa.gov>; McCarthy, Pat (SAOQ) <mccarthyp@sao.wa.gov>
Subject: PREVIOUS Ethics Complaint re: Greg Brotherton, Jefferson Co

External Email

Dear Ms. Watkins: We spoke on October 12, 2022 and you advised that my ethics
complaint re: Commissioner Brotherton's conduct would be considered at the time of
the summer audit of Jefferson County. Attached is the original memo sent last
September and the addendum filed in October with your office. | am inquiring as to
whether the audit occurred and whether the complaint was considered? Please
advise of the status. Thank you for your consideration. Rosemary Schurman

Port Ludlow, WA 98365

425-260-4097
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August 17, 2022

Ms. Pat McCarthy, Washington State Auditor
Insurance Building, P.O. Box 40021
Olympia, WA 98504-0021

Re: Conflict of Interest Contracting and Public Spending by Jefferson County Commissioner
Greg Brotherton in Violation of RCW Chapter 42.23

Dear Ms. McCarthy:

| am an attorney and a concerned citizen of Jefferson County Washington. | am reporting a
conflict of interest by County Commissioner Greg Brotherton. The conflict arises from his dual roles as
the Chair of the Board of Olympic Community Action Programs (“OlyCap”) and as a Jefferson County
Commissioner, and specifically, the manner in which Mr. Brotherton has participated in awarding
millions of dollars in grant agreements and service contracts from Jefferson County to OlyCap. These
actions violate RCW Chapter 42.23.

Greg Brotherton’s Dual Positions

Mr. Brotherton was elected as Jefferson County Commissioner in 2018 and took office on
January 1, 2019. Board of County Commissioners | Jefferson County, WA. OlyCap is a Non-Profit
501(c)(3) Organization. About OlyCap | OlyCAP. Mr. Brotherton has served as Chair of the Board of
OlyCap since 2019. Board of Directors | OlyCAP. My concern is only with the actions of Mr. Brotherton,
as opposed to OlyCap, which does substantial good work in our community.

Jefferson County Funds Awarded and Paid to OlyCap During Mr. Brotherton’s Dual Tenures

Jefferson County awarded a total of $2,709,163.70 in grant agreements and service contracts to
OlyCap from 2019 through the first quarter of 2022, during which period Mr. Brotherton served as both
a County Commissioner and as Chair of the Board of OlyCap. See Exhibits A-E, which are documents
received from Jefferson County in response to a public records request. In addition, in September 2019,
Jefferson County sold a parcel of land (at 7™ and Hendricks streets, Port Townsend), which was assessed
at $362,280, at the below-market price of $36,200, or a discount of at least $326,080. County funds
new housing project | Port Townsend Leader (ptleader.com) In 2021, Jefferson County purchased
another parcel of land (on Mill Road, Port Townsend) for a price of $602,000, which has been dedicated
exclusively to use by OlyCap without charge since that time. Jefferson County to spend another $500k
on open-air homeless shelter | Port Townsend Leader (ptleader.com)

The following table summarizes the total contributions by Jefferson County to OlyCap :

Year Amount Paid Land Contributed
2019 $552,053.01 $326,080.00
2020 $730,963.61

2021 $1,094,978.02 $602,000.00

1Q 2022 $331,169.15
Subtotals $2,709,163.79 $928,080.00
Total $3,637,243.79
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The amounts awarded to OlyCap from 2019 through the first quarter of 2022 reflect a steady
increase from the historic level of payment by Jefferson County to OlyCap such as $552,808.94 awarded
to OlyCap in 2018. Exhibit A.

Mr. Brotherton has routinely voted, as part of a three-member board of county commissioners,
in favor of the award of service contracts and grant agreements to OlyCap. Mr. Brotherton has not
recused himself from OlyCap funding votes over the past year and, to the best of the undersigned’s
knowledge, has not recused himself from voting on any of these awards.

Legal Prohibition
a. Prohibition against contractual conflicts of interest

RCW Chapter 42.23 provides a code of ethics for municipal officers concerning contract
interests. RCW 42.23.010 recites the purpose and intent of the chapter as “to promote the efficiency of
local government by prohibiting certain instances and areas of conflict while at the same time
sanctioning, under sufficient controls, certain other instances and areas of conflict”.

RCW 42.23.020 defines the term “Municipality” as including “all counties”, and defines the
terms “Municipal officer” and “officer” as “each include all elected and appointed officers of a
municipality”.

RCW 42.23.030 prohibits conflicts of interest in contracting by municipal officers:

No municipal officer shall be beneficially interested, directly or indirectly, in any contract which
may be made by, through or under the supervision of such officer, in whole or in part, or which
may be made for the benefit of his or her office, or accept, directly or indirectly, any
compensation, gratuity or reward in connection with such contract from any other person
beneficially interested therein.

RCW 42.23.030 also provides certain exemptions which do not appear to be applicable to the
instant situation, and then provides:

A municipal officer may not vote in the authorization, approval, or ratification of a contract in
which he or she is beneficially interested even though one of the exemptions allowing the
awarding of such a contract applies. The interest of the municipal officer must be disclosed to
the governing body of the municipality and noted in the official minutes or similar records of the
municipality before the formation of the contract. (Emphasis added).

RCW 42.23.030 prohibits Mr. Brotherton’s vote to award grant agreements and service contracts to
OlyCap while he serves on the board of OlyCap.

b. Exception for certain “remote interests”

RCW 42.23.040 excludes certain “remote interests” from the conflicts prohibited by RCW
42.23.030, providing:

A municipal officer is not interested in a contract, within the meaning of RCW 42.23.030, if the
officer has only a remote interest in the contract and the extent of the interest is disclosed to
the governing body of the municipality of which the officer is an officer and noted in the official
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minutes or similar records of the municipality prior to the formation of the contract, and
thereafter the governing body authorizes, approves, or ratifies the contract in good faith by a
vote of its membership sufficient for the purpose without counting the vote or votes of the
officer having the remote interest. As used in this section "remote interest" means:

(1) That of a nonsalaried officer of a nonprofit corporation;

(2) That of an employee or agent of a contracting party where the compensation of such
employee or agent consists entirely of fixed wages or salary;

(3) That of a landlord or tenant of a contracting party;

(4) That of a holder of less than one percent of the shares of a corporation or
cooperative which is a contracting party.

None of the provisions of this section are applicable to any officer interested in a
contract, even if the officer's interest is only remote, if the officer influences or attempts to
influence any other officer of the municipality of which he or she is an officer to enter into the

contract. (Emphasis added).

c. The “remote interest” exception does not apply to Mr. Brotherton

RCW 42.23.040 defines “remote interests” as including serving as a nonsalaried officer of a
nonprofit corporation. It does not appear that Mr. Brotherton receives a salary from OlyCap.

RCW 42.23.040 requires a municipal officer to disclose a remote interest to the municipality,
and the undersigned understands that Mr. Brotherton has disclosed his position on the board of Olycap
annually to Jefferson County. The undersigned is not aware whether any disclosure is made in
connection with each funding award to OlyCap or whether a disclosure is reflected in the official
minutes.

RCW 42.23.040 requires that “the governing body authorizes, approves, or ratifies the contract
in good faith by a vote of its membership sufficient for the purpose without counting the vote or votes
of the officer having the remote interest”. This requirement is not consistent with Mr. Brotherton
routinely voting in favor of and not recusing himself from commissioner votes approving the award of
grant agreements and service contracts to OlyCap.

Finally, the RCW 42.23.040 exception for a “remote interest” fails, and the prohibition against an
officer being interested in a contract applies, “if the officer influences or attempts to influence any other
officer of the municipality of which he or she is an officer to enter into the contract”. RCW 42.23.040.
This is where Mr. Brotherton clearly runs afoul of RCW Chapter 42.23. Notably, the Municipal Research
and Services of Washington states:

It is accordingly recommended that the officer with a remote interest should not participate, or
even appear to participate, in any manner in the governing body’s action on the contract.

Knowing the Territory: Basic Legal Guidelines for Washington City, County and Special Purpose Districts,
January 2022 located at : https://mrsc.org/getmedia/1e641718-94a0-408b-b9d9-
42b2e1d8180d/Knowing-The-Territory.pdf.aspx?ext=.pdf

Mr. Brotherton Routinely Influences or Attempts to Influence other County Commissioners to Award
Contracts to OlyCap, In violation of RCW 42.23.030 and RCW 42.23.040
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Below are some examples during 2022 of Mr. Brotherton influencing or attempting to influence the
other two county commissioners in connection with the award of grant agreements or service contracts
to OlyCap. These are only the most recent examples, and the undersigned assumes that this behavior

was a continuation of prior years’ actions.

1.

During a January 3, 2022 workshop between the Jefferson County Commissioners and OlyCap
concerning additional funding for the “Caswell Brown” tent shelter being run by OlyCap, as
reported by the newspaper the Port Townsend Leader on January 12, 2022. Jefferson County to
spend another $500k on open-air homeless shelter | Port Townsend Leader (ptleader.com)

“Commissioner Greg Brotherton requested the special workshop around funding for Caswell-
Brown Village. He advocated for spending $500,000 more of American Rescue Plan Act funding
toward Phase 2, which would provide sewer infrastructure to the site. Phase 3 would see the
installation of showers and a kitchen area.”

Commissioners continued their discussion after the workshop ended, with a focus on funding.
[The January 12, 2022 Port Townsend Leader article continued as follows:]

“[This] is a very high value property,” mused Commissioner Kate Dean. “Is this the highest and
best use?”

“There is a groundswell of funding for housing and affordable housing right now,” Brotherton
said.

Dean probed a bit more, asking a question the county still hasn’t answered: “Who should be
holding the title on this property?”

Regardless, Brotherton noted the site was still lacking in critical amenities.

“We can’t leave folks without flushing toilets and everything,” Brotherton said. “I think we
should be willing to spend up to another $500,000 to get the infrastructure squared away.”

“Finishing the first permanent emergency shelter is something that | think we should commit
to,” he added.

“Outdoor emergency shelter,” he corrected himself.”

During a March 28, 2022 meeting of the Jefferson County Commissioners, shortly after 4:00 pm.
The following is an excerpt from the transcript of that meeting accessed at Board of County
Commissioners | Jefferson County, WA by selecting the link to past meeting recordings and
transcripts at AV Capture All. Mr. Brotherton’s comments are shown in bold font and obvious
typographical transcript errors have been corrected.

[01:50:46.000 --> 01:50:51.076] SO now we're gonna have a workshop on the Caswell Brown Village and
this was an item [01:50:51.076 --> 01:50:55.059] that Commissioner Brotherton brought to the agenda.
Do you want to tee this up after [01:50:55.059 --> 01:50:59.096] we get our sure. [Commissioner
Brotherton commences speaking:] You know, | think we've all been waiting with baited breath
for kind [01:50:59.096 --> 01:51:05.007] of a budget for what? Phase two A and two B look like for this
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kind of audacious [01:51:05.071 --> 01:51:11.013] and large program, which is critically needed. And I'll
just remind folks of [01:51:11.013 --> 01:51:15.037] Where we were before we started this, which was
an unmanaged encampment which was [01:51:15.037 --> 01:51:19.028] still costing us quite a bit of
money at the jefferson County fairgrounds and the [01:51:19.076 --> 01:51:26.058] um, that the
impacts have been dramatic, both in the quality of life of the, of the [01:51:26.058 --> 01:51:31.075]
residents who really have no other place to go as well as for the surrounding neighborhood
[01:51:31.075 --> 01:51:37.042] and the fairgrounds and this is, I'm still proud of. This is a, as a
visionary project [01:51:37.042 --> 01:51:41.081] Which, which steps up and takes responsibility for a
problem that doesn't necessarily [01:51:41.081 --> 01:51:45.098] fall on our shoulders, but that is part
of our community and so does fall on your [01:51:45.098 --> 01:51:53.078] shoulders. Thank you.

3. During an April 4, 2022 meeting of the Jefferson County Commissioners. The following is a
transcription of an audio-visual recording of that meeting, starting at time stamp 1:49-1:59
accessed at Board of County Commissioners | Jefferson County, WA by selecting the link to past
meeting recordings and transcripts at AV Capture All.

[Greg Brotherton speaking:] “So can | just restate the ask to understand kind of where we are.
The way that | see it, the million dollars that we committed so far is eaten. And we have
operations to consider which are right around 30K a month, $875K, say a million dollars to get to
the end of the year, and into the RFP process and for recording fees, and housing fund board
funds for operations and potentially other funding mechanisms for ongoing operations. And |
really like the possibility of a sale to recoup funds to help supplement this. | think we’ve got
some other funding mechanisms that are, you know, that could do part of it, you know, | think
this would be a really good candidate for 1590 funds, we still have no process yet and its, and
we of course committed to a collaborative process with our housing fund board on figuring out
that process. But you know projects like this and the Evans Vista work force housing project and
habitat’s project, we’ve got some big projects in front of us, that look like. | mean | feel like we
could really move the needle on some of these projects with those funds. So that’s just my
personal and | have not talked about that with the housing fund board or anything. And as | say,
that is a collaborative decision, we might have the final pen on paper but the whole idea is that
we make those in partnership with our city and citizen representatives. But, to me, moving this
project forward again, is really critical, a $500K lifeline right now to get this going and talking
about what we want with the property, I'd be willing to certainly carve out those additional
parcels and maybe even the Larry Scott trail piece that has more potential for future
development down the line and then selling what's left for phase 2A and phase 3 at the very
least to Olycap would be kind of my starting point for consideration.”

[The meeting continued. Following deliberation, in which both other County Commissioners
expressed concerns over this additional spending, Greg Brotherton moved for and the
Commissioners approved the award of the additional S500K funding to OlyCap.]

4. During an April 25, 2022 meeting of the Jefferson County Commissioners, Mr. Brotherton
argued for use of ARPA funding to further support the Caswell-Brown shelter operated by
OlyCap, in the face of concerns by the other commissioners. The following is an excerpt from the
transcript of that meeting accessed at Board of County Commissioners | Jefferson County, WA
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by selecting the link to past meeting recordings and transcripts at AV Capture All. The identity of
the individuals speaking has been added in brackets, obvious typographical transcription errors
have been corrected, and Mr. Brotherton’s comments have been bolded. Otherwise what
follows was copied and pasted as it appears on the County website, and an audiovisual playback
of the recording of the meeting on the county website is recommended for greater accuracy and
more depth.

[04:53:24.049 --> 04:53:32.011] [Commissioner Eisenhour speaking:] so that's what Mark and | did last
week is just okay. True. Mm hmm. [Commissioner Brotherton speaking:] But we could [04:53:32.011
-->04:53:39.009] use that 262 would make a big dent on Caswell Brown. [County Administrator
speaking:] Well, right. | mean when Heidi [04:53:39.009 --> 04:53:43.081] and | were Monkeying with
this sheet, | put 18 in there for mill road and then we [04:53:43.081 --> 04:53:51.073] went To -37000
down below. And then Heidi consulted with Kate. Okay. They [04:53:51.074 --> 04:53:55.073] take out
that 300 because we haven't committed it yet. So that's the only reason [04:53:55.073 --> 04:54:02.015]
we have the 262 at the bottom. [Commissioner Eisenhour speaking:] Yeah, this is what's
committed. [Commissioner Brotherton speaking:] Well, | mean we don't [04:54:02.015 --> 04:54:05.001]
have something else to use it will have that money and we needed, it would start [04:54:05.001 -->
04:54:12.021] the project again. If we could get this, [Commissioner Dean speaking:] we could also
take um, you know, commit [04:54:12.022 --> 04:54:18.007] @ chunk of capital funds to the Hadlock
sewer instead of ARPA [Commissioner Brotherton speaking:] Oh right. [04:54:21.025 --> 04:54:27.008]
Mhm. | mean if we could get, you know, 400 that would turn everything on again. [04:54:29.014 -->
04:54:36.004] They just finished Phase two a. [Commissioner Eisenhour speaking:] So when is it
gonna stop though? | mean [04:54:36.041 --> 04:54:41.001] we've spent, well if we do that we'll have
spent two million of our funds on it and [04:54:41.001 --> 04:54:45.033] then it was that enough
[Commissioner Brotherton speaking:] That's enough to get Phase two a. And they're looking for
[04:54:45.034 --> 04:54:49.011] housing trust fund and other funds. [Commissioner Eisenhour speaking:]
So that would be other sources of funding [04:54:49.011 --> 04:54:55.073] that get mobilized for it
[Commissioner Brotherton speaking:] or for any future development. That's what yeah, that's
[04:54:55.073 --> 04:54:58.078] what OlyCap has presented to us and that's the plan. So yeah, that
would [04:54:58.078 --> 04:55:05.007] be the end of the infrastructure investment from us. There's a
operations, they think [04:55:05.007 --> 04:55:07.099] they can get some funds for operations and shift
stuff around but if they're not [04:55:07.099 --> 04:55:11.018] moving to permanent supportive
housing for years, which is what | think will happen. [04:55:11.019 --> 04:55:17.013] It's | don't I'm not
sure if this operation funds are actually realistic. Um So but [04:55:17.014 --> 04:55:21.086] you know,
we have other revenue streams, you know, our normal Um you know, recording [04:55:21.086 -->
04:55:26.054] fees and everything that we have RFPs for already. So they'll look for [04:55:26.054 -->
04:55:31.087] it but you know, 400 would finish phase two a. Mhm. [04:55:37.024 --> 04:55:37.045] Mhm.
[04:55:41.014 --> 04:55:41.046] Yeah [04:55:58.024 --> 04:56:01.012] and capital funds could be used for the
sewer. Right, that's not a problem. [04:56:07.004 --> 04:56:08.006] What do you guys think about that?
[04:56:11.094 --> 04:56:16.096] [Commissioner Eisenhour speaking:] | don't know, | would love to see us
putting more money into other segments of housing, [04:56:20.056 --> 04:56:24.059] [Commissioner
Dean speaking:] which will be an ask from the city to they're really wanting a commitment on
Evans [04:56:24.059 --> 04:56:30.028] Vista. [Commissioner Brotherton speaking:] We gave him a
commitment, didn't we? [Commissioner Eisenhour speaking:] Well, it's in revenue sharing and
it's [04:56:30.028 --> 04:56:36.005] down in the funding candidates category. Right? [04:56:38.083 -->
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04:56:44.079] [County Administrator speaking:] | mean, right. And | think the reason we had
funding candidates was because we didn't [04:56:44.079 --> 04:56:52.055] know when or how much we
were going to receive, [Commissioner Eisenhour speaking:] but we actually have a contract now
[04:56:53.003 --> 04:56:55.036] habitat for mason street.

Penalties

RCW 42.30.520 provides that a contract made in violation of the chapter “is void” and an officer
violating the chapter will owe the county $500.00, in addition to possibly being subjected to other civil
or criminal penalties. Violations may also “be grounds for forfeiture of his or her office.”.

Community Action Agencies

OlyCap is a Community Action Agency (CAA). All CAAs receiving federal community service block
grants are required to be governed by a community-selected board consisting of one-third public
elected officials or their representatives. See, Community Services Block Grant - Washington State
Community Action Partnership (wapartnership.org) and the statute and the Community Services Block
Grant Act (42 U.S.C. 9901 et seq.).

However, this elected official board requirement on the part of CAAs is in connection with the
administration of federal block grants. Nowhere do these provisions require that the elected officials be
officials who award state or local funding to a CAA or excuse such a conflict of interest.

If Mr. Brotherton simply served on the board of OlyCap without Jefferson County awarding local
grant agreements and services contracts to OlyCap, there would not be a conflict. But by awarding
Jefferson County funding to the non-profit CAA on which he serves as board chair and in the manner in
which he does, he exceeds the requirement for CAA federal block grants and is in violation of
Washington State Law regarding municipal conflicts of interest.

Mr. Brotherton clearly has an “interest” in the grants/contracts and land awarded to OlyCap
because he is also a member of OlyCap’s Board of Directors, which gives him control over how the
awarded funds and land are used by OlyCap. Mr. Brotherton’s statements during Jefferson County
Commission meetings, acting in his role as a Commissioner, display a pattern of exerting influence over
decisions to award land and funds to OlyCap. It is within the power of the State Auditor’s office to
subpoena the necessary financial records to determine if Mr. Brotherton receives any financial benefits
(including payment of expenses, or via his spouse) from OlyCap, which would make him a “beneficially
interested” party. Regardless of that determination however, he has exerted influence over decisions
and his status does not fall within the “remote interest” exception. At a minimum he is a party with an
“interest,” potentially a “beneficial interest,” and is in violation of Washington State Law regarding
municipal conflicts of interest.

Please advise if you have any questions and thank you for your consideration.

Very truly yours,

s/ Rosemary Schurman

Rosemary Schurman, Esq.

PO Box 65194, Port Ludlow, WA 98365
425-821-8577; rbschurman@gmail.com
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From: Strzalka, Amy (SAQ)

To: rbschurman@gmail.com

Subject: Citizen Hotlines H-22-291 and H-22-298
Date: Monday, August 22, 2022 2:36:00 PM
Attachments: image001.png

Dear Ms. Schurman,

Thank you for contacting the State Auditor’s Office Citizen Hotline with your concerns regarding a
potential conflict of interest at Jefferson County.

We will consider your concerns as part of our next accountability audit of the County, planned for
summer 2023.

Have a good day,

Amy Strzalka, CPA

Team Port Orchard Audit Manager, Office of the Washington State Auditor
(360) 845-1476 | Pronouns: she/her/hers

We are hiring! Go to sao.wa.gov/jobs to see our openings.
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Office of the Washington State Auditor
Pat McCarthy

November 15, 2023
Rosemary Schurman
PO Box 65194

Port Ludlow, WA 98365

Dear Ms. Schurman:

Thank you for contacting the State Auditor’s Office Citizen Hotline with your concerns
regarding Jefferson County.

We recently examined your concerns as part of our audit of the County and would like to share
the results with you. Your concerns and our conclusions are listed below.

Concern: In your referral, you identified a potential conflict of interest. Specifically, you said a
County Commissioner participates in the County’s process for awarding grants and contracts to a
nonprofit organization for which the Commissioner is a board member.

Results: We did not identify a conflict of interest. Since the Commissioner does not receive a
benefit from the grants and contracts the County awards to the nonprofit organization, there is no
violation of RCW 42.23, Code of Ethics for Municipal Officers — Contract Interests.

Thank you for taking the time to submit your concerns. If you have any questions, please contact
me at (360) 845-1476.

Sincerely,

Amy Strzalka, CPA
Program Manager
Port Orchard

H-22-298

Insurance Building, P.O. Box 40021 ¢ Olympia, Washington 98504-0021 ¢ (564) 999-0950 * Pat.McCarthy@sao.wa.gov



From: Strzalka, Amy (SAQ)

To: Rosemary Schurman

Subject: Citizen Hotline H-22-298 Regarding Jefferson County
Date: Wednesday, September 6, 2023 9:54:00 AM
Attachments: image001.png

Hello Ms. Schurman,

We sent your letters voicing your concerns about a potential conflict of interest for one of the
Jefferson County Commissioners, and a letter the County sent us on the same topic to our Director
of Legal Affairs for review. He would be happy to discuss the results of that review with you via
phone, if you’d like to give him a call.

Al Rose, Director of Legal Affairs, (564) 999-0805
Best,

Amy Strzalka, CPA
Team Port Orchard Audit Manager, Fire Protection District Program Manager

Office of the Washington State Auditor
(360) 845-1476 | Pronouns: she/her/hers
We are hiring! Go to sao.wa.gov/jobs to see our openings.
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State Auditor's Office

SEP 30 2022
September 27, 2022 RE(‘JE,\\/ED

Ms. Pat McCarthy, Washington State Auditor Via US Mail & Email
Insurance Building P.O. Box 40021 _ Pat.McCarthy@sao.wa.gov
Olympia, WA 98504-0021

Re:  ADDENDUM: Conflict of Interest Contracting and Public Spending by Jefferson
County Commissioner Greg Brotherton in Violation of RCW Chapter 42.23

Dear Ms. McCarthy:

Please consider this addendum to my complaint filed with your office, dated August 17,
2022. The County has decided that Mr. Brotherton has no ethics conflict under RCW 42.23.030
because he has no financial interest in the nonprofit agency that has received over four million
dollars from Jefferson County in the form of money and real property. Amy Strzalka, CPA,
from your office, has advised me that the Auditor’s Office will not consider the complaint until
next summer when the scheduled “accountability audit” occurs. This position renders our State
of Washington ethics laws meaningless and it is certainly not in the taxpayers’ interest, nor is it
fiscally responsible, to delay consideration of this issue when millions of dollars are being spent.
I encourage you to revisit that decision as this legally valid complaint is not simply a matter of
“politicking,” as inferred by Jefferson County.

The Civil Deputy Prosecutor's analysis of RCW 42.23.030 and conclusion that
Commissioner Brotherton's conflict of interest is nonexistent, merely because he does not

directly receive monetary compensation from OlyCap, completely ignores both the stated
purpose of Chapter 42.23 and RCW 42.23.040.

The purpose of Chapter 42.23 is to "prohibit certain instances and areas of conflict,"
particularly with respect to "the transaction of business by municipal officers," but does
"sanction[]" certain conflicts of interest "deemed to be only remote[.]" RCW 42.23.010.

RCW 42.23.030 prohibits municipal officers from being "directly or indirectly"
"beneficially interested" in a contract. RCW 42.23.040 defines scenarios when a conflict of
interest is "remote" and thus the municipal “officer is not interested in a contract within the
meaning of RCW 42.23.030[.]” The scenario where a municipal officer holds a position as a
"non-salaried officer of a nonprofit corporation" is explicitly labeled a "remote interest." This
type of femote interest is considered a conflict of interest, but it is one sanctioned by the
legislature when the conflict is disclosed because it qualifies as only a “remote” conflict.
However, RCW 42.23.040 also reverses the "remote interest" distinction where the municipal
"officer influences or attempts to influence any other officer of the municipality[.]" Under this
scenario, the municipal officer is considered "interested... within the meaning of RCW
42.23.030[.]" and RCW 42.23.040 can be read as follows:

"A municipal officer is [] interested in a contract, within the meaning of RCW
42.23.030, if the officer has only a remote interest in the contract... [and] the
officer influences or attempts to influence any other officer of the municipality of
which he or she is an officer to enter into the contract."

ADDENDUM: Brotherton Complaint — page 1
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Under RCW 42.23.040," the legislature classified this specific scenario: a municipal officer also
holding a position as a non-salaried officer of a nonprofit corporation, who exerts influence over
other municipal officers when making a decision related to a business transaction involving the
same nonprofit, as a prohibited conflict of interest "within the meaning of 42.23.030[.]"

Mr. Brotherton is a Jefferson County Commissioner (a municipal officer) and is a
member of the board of directors of a nonprofit - OlyCap. Mr. Brotherton has also repeatedly
advocated for passage of certain funding and land divestment resolutions, at County Commission
meetings and in his capacity as a County Commissioner, which showered OlyCap with millions
of dollars and acres of land at below market value, Mr. Brotherton's advocacy for resolutions
which provide direct financial benefit to OlyCap (as documented in the original complaint) is the
type of "influence" contemplated by the legislature, which elevates what is otherwise a "remote
interest," to that which is prohibited under RCW 42.23.030.

Jefferson County conveniently ignored RCW 42.23.040 when concluding that there is no
conflict under RCW 42.23.030, even though .040 expressly addresses an ethics violation for a
County Commissioner who is a “nonsalaried officer of a nonprofit corporation.” Furthermore,
the argument that there is no ethical violation because there are more than 50 nonprofit
organizations that have Jefferson County Commissioner board members and no one has ever
been challenged, is illogical. A practice that has not received judicial review does not mean that
the practice is lawful. Nor does the County’s citation to a 1996 Court of Appeals decision
resolve the legal issues when the decision does not even address RCW 42.23.040 and its
provision which specifically addresses Brotherton’s position as a “nonsalaried officer ofa
nonprofit corporation.”

IRCW 42.23.040 states: A municipal officer is not interested in a contract, within the meaning of
RCW 42.23.030, if the officer has only a remote interest in the contract and the extent of the interest is
disclosed to the governing body of the municipality of which the officer is an officer and noted in the
official minutes or similar records of the municipality prior to the formation of the contract, and thereafter
the governing body authorizes, approves, or ratifies the contract in good faith by a vote of its membership
sufficient for the purpose without counting the vote or votes of the officer having the remote interest. As
used inthis section "remote interest” means:

(1) That of a nonsalaried officer of a nonprofit corporation;

(2) That of an employee or agent of a contracting party where the compensation of such employee
or agent consists entirely of fixed wages or salary;

(3) That of a landlord or tenant of a contracting party;

(4) That of a holder of less than one percent of the shares of a corporation or cooperative which is
a contracting party.

None of the provisions of this section are applicable to any officer interested in a contract, even if
the officer's interest is only remote, if the officer influences or attempts to influence any other officer of
the municipality of which he or she is an officer to enter into the contract.

ADDENDUM: Brotherton Complaint — page 2



As previously documented in the initial memorandum, Mr, Brotherton advocates for
financial awards to Olycap, as well as votes for such awards, contrary to RCW 42,23, Even the
Municipal Research and Services of Washington? states:

[t is accordingly recommended that the officer with a remote interest should not
participate, or even appear to participate, in any manner in the governing body’s action
on the contract.

Knowing the Territory: Basic Legal Guidelines for Washington City, County and Special

Purpose Districts, January 2022 located at : https://mrsc.org/getmedia/le641718-94a0-408b-
b9d9-42b2e1d8180d/Knowing-The-Territory.pdf.aspx?ext=.pdf

In addition to the law which prohibits Brotherton’s conflict of interest, there is an
appearance of fairness issue. Deciding to donate over 4 million dollars to a nonprofit (primarily
for homeless shelters and housing) and then serving as the Chair of the nonprofit’s board of
directors, has the appearance of impropriety. No one is criticizing the nonprofit, but you would
think that Brotherton would follow the MRSC advice and refrain from participating in County
decisions that give money to the nonprofit that he is significantly involved with. Brotherton is
taking an unnecessary risk. RCW 42.23.050 states that a contract made in violation of the ethics
laws “is void” and could be “grounds for forfeiture of his...office.” Why not take the high road
and just refrain from making those decisions?

Moreover, if the County is so confident in its legal position with respect to Brotherton’s
ethical dilemma, why hasn’t it requested an opinion from the Washington State Attorney
General? The Jefferson County prosecutor is one of the few government officials who can make
such a request. Private citizens, such as the undersigned, cannot make a request. See,
https://www.atg.wa.gov/about-ago-opinions

I hope the Auditor’s Office will study this issue and render an opinion. The citizens of
Jefferson County deserve to have this resolved by a neutral agency. A prompt review of this
issue is also consistent with the statement on the SAO web site which indicates that under your
“leadership, SAO’s vision and mission is to increase trust in government through independent
and transparent audits of state and local governments, and to help these governments develop

2 “The Municipal Research and Services Center (MRSC) is a nonprofit organization that helps local governments
across Washington State better serve their communities by providing legal and policy guidance on any topic. At
MRSC, we believe the most effective local government is a well-informed one, and as cities. counties, and special
purpose districts face rapid changes and significant challenges, we are here to help. For more than 80 years, local
governments have turned to MRSC for independent and reliable guidance on every topic imaginable. Our trusted
staff attorneys and policy consultants provide personalized assistance by phone and email. at conferences and
training sessions. and through our extensive online articles and resources. Every year we answer thousands of
questions as we help staff and elected officials research policies, comply with state and federal laws, and improve
day-to-day operations.” [https://mrsc.org/Home/About-MRSC.aspx]
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strategies to become more efficient and effective.” From: https://sao.wa.gov/about-sao/state-
auditor-pat-mccarthy/

Thank you for your consideration.

Very truly yours,

s/ Rosemary Schurman

Rosemary Schurman, Esq.

PO Box 65194, Port Ludlow, WA 98365
425-821-8577; rbschurman(@gmail.com

cc: Amy Strzalka, CPA @ strzalkaa@sao.wa.gov
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September 27, 2022

Ms. Pat McCarthy, Washington State Auditor Via US Mail & Email
Insurance Building P.O. Box 40021 Pat.McCarthy@sao.wa.gov
Olympia, WA 98504-0021

Re:  ADDENDUM: Conflict of Interest Contracting and Public Spending by Jefferson
County Commissioner Greg Brotherton in Violation of RCW Chapter 42.23

Dear Ms. McCarthy:

Please consider this addendum to my complaint filed with your office, dated August 17,
2022. The County has decided that Mr. Brotherton has no ethics conflict under RCW 42.23.030
because he has no financial interest in the nonprofit agency that has received over four million
dollars from Jefferson County in the form of money and real property. Amy Strzalka, CPA,
from your office, has advised me that the Auditor’s Office will not consider the complaint until
next summer when the scheduled “accountability audit” occurs. This position renders our State
of Washington ethics laws meaningless and it is certainly not in the taxpayers’ interest, nor is it
fiscally responsible, to delay consideration of this issue when millions of dollars are being spent.
I encourage you to revisit that decision as this legally valid complaint is not simply a matter of
“politicking,” as inferred by Jefferson County.

The Civil Deputy Prosecutor's analysis of RCW 42.23.030 and conclusion that
Commissioner Brotherton's conflict of interest is nonexistent, merely because he does not

directly receive monetary compensation from OlyCap, completely ignores both the stated
purpose of Chapter 42.23 and RCW 42.23.040.

The purpose of Chapter 42.23 is to "prohibit certain instances and areas of conflict,"
particularly with respect to "the transaction of business by municipal officers," but does
"sanction[]" certain conflicts of interest "deemed to be only remote[.]" RCW 42.23.010.

RCW 42.23.030 prohibits municipal officers from being "directly or indirectly"
"beneficially interested" in a contract. RCW 42.23.040 defines scenarios when a conflict of
interest 1s "remote" and thus the municipal “officer is not interested in a contract within the
meaning of RCW 42.23.030[.]” The scenario where a municipal officer holds a position as a
"non-salaried officer of a nonprofit corporation" is explicitly labeled a "remote interest." This
type of remote interest is considered a conflict of interest, but it is one sanctioned by the
legislature when the conflict is disclosed because it qualifies as only a “remote” conflict.
However, RCW 42.23.040 also reverses the "remote interest" distinction where the municipal
"officer influences or attempts to influence any other officer of the municipality[.]" Under this
scenario, the municipal officer is considered "interested... within the meaning of RCW
42.23.030[.]" and RCW 42.23.040 can be read as follows:

"A municipal officer is [] interested in a contract, within the meaning of RCW
42.23.030, if the officer has only a remote interest in the contract... [and] the
officer influences or attempts to influence any other officer of the municipality of
which he or she is an officer to enter into the contract."”

ADDENDUM: Brotherton Complaint — page 1



Under RCW 42.23.040,' the legislature classified this specific scenario: a municipal officer also
holding a position as a non-salaried officer of a nonprofit corporation, who exerts influence over
other municipal officers when making a decision related to a business transaction involving the
same nonprofit, as a prohibited conflict of interest "within the meaning of 42.23.030[.]"

Mr. Brotherton is a Jefferson County Commissioner (a municipal officer) and is a
member of the board of directors of a nonprofit - OlyCap. Mr. Brotherton has also repeatedly
advocated for passage of certain funding and land divestment resolutions, at County Commission
meetings and in his capacity as a County Commissioner, which showered OlyCap with millions
of dollars and acres of land at below market value. Mr. Brotherton's advocacy for resolutions
which provide direct financial benefit to OlyCap (as documented in the original complaint) is the
type of "influence" contemplated by the legislature, which elevates what is otherwise a "remote
interest," to that which is prohibited under RCW 42.23.030.

Jefferson County conveniently ignored RCW 42.23.040 when concluding that there is no
conflict under RCW 42.23.030, even though .040 expressly addresses an ethics violation for a
County Commissioner who is a “nonsalaried officer of a nonprofit corporation.” Furthermore,
the argument that there is no ethical violation because there are more than 50 nonprofit
organizations that have Jefferson County Commissioner board members and no one has ever
been challenged, is illogical. A practice that has not received judicial review does not mean that
the practice is lawful. Nor does the County’s citation to a 1996 Court of Appeals decision
resolve the legal issues when the decision does not even address RCW 42.23.040 and its
provision which specifically addresses Brotherton’s position as a “nonsalaried officer of a
nonprofit corporation.”

'RCW 42.23.040 states: A municipal officer is not interested in a contract, within the meaning of
RCW 42.23.030, if the officer has only a remote interest in the contract and the extent of the interest is
disclosed to the governing body of the municipality of which the officer is an officer and noted in the
official minutes or similar records of the municipality prior to the formation of the contract, and thereafter
the governing body authorizes, approves, or ratifies the contract in good faith by a vote of its membership
sufficient for the purpose without counting the vote or votes of the officer having the remote interest. As
used in this section "remote interest" means:

(1) That of a nonsalaried officer of a nonprofit corporation;

(2) That of an employee or agent of a contracting party where the compensation of such employee
or agent consists entirely of fixed wages or salary;

(3) That of a landlord or tenant of a contracting party;

(4) That of a holder of less than one percent of the shares of a corporation or cooperative which is
a contracting party.

None of the provisions of this section are applicable to any officer interested in a contract, even if
the officer's interest is only remote, if the officer influences or attempts to influence any other officer of
the municipality of which he or she is an officer to enter into the contract.

ADDENDUM: Brotherton Complaint — page 2



As previously documented in the initial memorandum, Mr. Brotherton advocates for
financial awards to Olycap, as well as votes for such awards, contrary to RCW 42.23. Even the
Municipal Research and Services of Washington? states:

It is accordingly recommended that the officer with a remote interest should not
participate, or even appear to participate, in any manner in the governing body’s action
on the contract.

Knowing the Territory: Basic Legal Guidelines for Washington City, County and Special
Purpose Districts, January 2022 located at : https://mrsc.org/getmedia/l1e641718-94a0-408b-
b9d9-42b2e1d8180d/Knowing-The-Territory.pdf.aspx?ext=.pdf

In addition to the law which prohibits Brotherton’s conflict of interest, there is an
appearance of fairness issue. Deciding to donate over 4 million dollars to a nonprofit (primarily
for homeless shelters and housing) and then serving as the Chair of the nonprofit’s board of
directors, has the appearance of impropriety. No one is criticizing the nonprofit, but you would
think that Brotherton would follow the MRSC advice and refrain from participating in County
decisions that give money to the nonprofit that he is significantly involved with. Brotherton is
taking an unnecessary risk. RCW 42.23.050 states that a contract made in violation of the ethics
laws “is void” and could be “grounds for forfeiture of his...office.” Why not take the high road
and just refrain from making those decisions?

Moreover, if the County is so confident in its legal position with respect to Brotherton’s
ethical dilemma, why hasn’t it requested an opinion from the Washington State Attorney
General? The Jefferson County prosecutor is one of the few government officials who can make
such a request. Private citizens, such as the undersigned, cannot make a request. See,
https://www.atg.wa.gov/about-ago-opinions

I hope the Auditor’s Office will study this issue and render an opinion. The citizens of
Jefferson County deserve to have this resolved by a neutral agency. A prompt review of this
issue is also consistent with the statement on the SAO web site which indicates that under your
“leadership, SAO’s vision and mission is to increase trust in government through independent
and transparent audits of state and local governments, and to help these governments develop

2 “The Municipal Research and Services Center (MRSC) is a nonprofit organization that helps local governments

across Washington State better serve their communities by providing legal and policy guidance on any topic. At
MRSC, we believe the most effective local government is a well-informed one, and as cities, counties, and special
purpose districts face rapid changes and significant challenges, we are here to help. For more than 80 years, local
governments have turned to MRSC for independent and reliable guidance on every topic imaginable. Our trusted
staff attorneys and policy consultants provide personalized assistance by phone and email, at conferences and
training sessions, and through our extensive online articles and resources. Every year we answer thousands of
questions as we help staff and elected officials research policies, comply with state and federal laws, and improve
day-to-day operations.” [https://mrsc.org/Home/About-MRSC.aspx]
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strategies to become more efficient and effective.” From: https://sao.wa.gov/about-sao/state-
auditor-pat-mccarthy/

Thank you for your consideration.

Very truly yours,

s/ Rosemary Schurman

Rosemary Schurman, Esq.

PO Box 65194, Port Ludlow, WA 98365
425-821-8577; rbschurman@gmail.com

cc: Amy Strzalka, CPA @ strzalkaa@sao.wa.gov
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